STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

\_\_\_\_\_  
Appeal from York County

Honorable John C. Hayes, Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

**RECEIVED**  
MAR 01 2019  
S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

DAJLIA SYMONE TORBIT,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2016-002433  
\_\_\_\_\_

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT  
\_\_\_\_\_

TAYLOR D. GILLIAM  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

**STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

The trial court reversibly erred in denying Appellant a directed verdict of acquittal for resisting arrest where the uncontroverted evidence established that, at the time of her arrest, Appellant was acting to prevent Officer Schurig from undertaking an illegal warrantless search of her mother's apartment that was not justified by any exigent circumstances.

**STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Appellant Dajlia Torbit was indicted by the York County Grand Jury. R. 127 - 128. On November 20, 2016, Appellant proceeded to a bench trial before the Honorable John C. Hayes, III. B.J. Barrowclough represented Appellant. Assistant Solicitors Aaron Hayes represented the State. Judge Hayes found Appellant guilty of resisting arrest and sentenced Appellant to three years imprisonment suspended on the service of three years of probation. R. 114, l. 15 - 125, l. 11. This appeal follows.

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

The salient facts of this case are not in dispute. Sometime after 11:00 on April 15, 2016, Appellant, age twenty with no prior criminal record, called 911 requesting that emergency medical services come to her mother's Rock Hill apartment to treat her brother, Timothy Holley. R. 90, l. 8 – 93, l. 4. April 15th was Holley's daughter's first birthday. Appellant's family had gathered at her mother's apartment to celebrate and open presents. They planned to go to Chucky Cheese later that day. R. 83, l. 2 – 84, l. 18.

Holley injured himself by inadvertently tripping over one of the birthday presents and hitting his head on the corner molding of a doorway. *Id.* The impact was hard enough to render Holley briefly unconscious and leave a visible knot on Holley's head. R. 90, l. 8 – 93, l. 4. While waiting for the emergency medical personnel to arrive Appellant, Kaitlin Lumpkin (Holley's girlfriend), and Quantavious Torbit (Appellant's younger brother) carried Holley outside to the apartment complex's exterior breezeway so that he could get fresh air. They brought a chair from inside the apartment for Holley to sit on. *Id.*

Appellant then briefly went inside to check on the children, who were crying because of Holley's injuries. *Id.* When she returned to the outdoor breezeway, Rock Hill Police Officer Mark Schurig was standing in the apartment hallway watching Holley, Lumpkin, and Quantavious. *Id.* Schurig did not offer to help Holley. He simply stood near the group.

Schurig, a member of the Rock Hill drug squad, testified that he was dispatched to the apartment complex "to assist EMS" as part of a medical call and to "make sure that no other kind of behavior is occurring." R. 54, ll. 4-18. When he reached the apartment, emergency medical personnel and the firefighters had yet to arrive. *Id.*

A short time after Schurig's arrival, members of the fire department and emergency medical personnel showed-up and began treating Holley's injuries. R. 93, l. 1 – 95, l.25. While Holley was receiving medical attention, Schurig frisked Quantavious, without explanation. R. 93, ll. 16-25. A second Rock Hill police drug squad officer, Christopher Revels arrived four minutes after Schurig. R. 20, l. 18 – 22, l. 22. After being treated, Holley declined the offer of an ambulance ride to the hospital. R. 35, l. 3 – 36, l. 19.

With the medical personnel and fire fighters preparing to leave, Revels and Schurig briefly conferred. R. 55, l. 2 – 56, l. 24. Both officers would testify that, while standing on the outdoor breezeway of the apartment complex, they smelled an "overwhelming" odor of marijuana coming from the apartment. *Id.*; *see also* R. 21, l. 1 – 23, l. 25.

After standing in the apartment breezeway for several minutes, the two officers decided that they needed to investigate the marijuana smell. *Id.* Officer Schurig asked Appellant and the others in the breezeway who lived at the apartment. *Id.* Appellant explained that her mother lived there, but that Appellant was in charge while she was at work. R. 55, l. 2 – 57, l. 24; *see also* R. 63, l. 4 – 66, l. 25. R. 93, l. 3 – 96, l. 21.

Officer Schurig demanded to be allowed in the apartment:

Once the medical evaluation of Mr. Holley had ceased there were people coming in and out of [Appellant's Mother's apartment] while we were there. Every time the door opened there was an overwhelming and you can actually see smoke of smoked marijuana coming from that particular location, coming out of the door. . . . I discussed with Officer Revels and I said there is a lot of marijuana smoke coming out of that apartment let's go see what that's about and that's when I began my encounter with [Appellant]. . . .

When I spoke with [Appellant] who stated it was her mother's apartment I ask[ed] "I'd like to step in and talk to you about all the marijuana smoke coming out of your apartment. She said no,

which is fine. When I stepped closer to the door she shoved me and said you're not coming inside.

R. 55, l. 4 – 56, l. 18. Alone among the witnesses, Schurig claimed that people coming and going from the apartment while Holley was being treated. *Id.* Schurig was also the only witness who reported seeing smoke. *Id.*

No other witness whether from law enforcement, the fire department, emergency medical services, or Appellant's family, recalled the apartment door opening while Holley was receiving medical treatment. Even when the door was open Schurig admitted that he could not see anything suspicious from his vantage point on the breezeway. R. 55, l. 4 – 56, l. 25. Moreover, Schurig could only hear "low conversation" coming from inside the apartment, but "nothing distinctive." *Id.*

Appellant refused to consent to the officers entering the apartment without a warrant or her mother's permission. R. 63, l. 1 – 66, l. 7. Appellant explained that her mother was expected home soon and that Schurig could ask her for consent to enter the apartment when she arrived. R. 94, l. 1 – 96, l. 21.

Schurig told Appellant that he did not need a warrant or consent because of the marijuana odor and that he was going to go inside the apartment. R. 63, l. 1 – 66, l. 7. Despite having been on the breezeway for a significant period of time prior to taking action, Schurig claimed that the marijuana odor combined with evidence that there were people inside the apartment now constituted exigent circumstances risking the imminent destruction of evidence. *Id.*

On cross-examination at trial, Schurig reiterated that he had the right to enter the apartment without a warrant and without consent:

Q: [Y]ou do acknowledge arguing back and forth with [Appellant] about whether or not you could enter the apartment or whether you had to wait until the mother got home; right?

A: Yes.

Q: And you did tell her you didn't need a warrant to go inside the house?

A: To secure it? No I did not.

Q: You don't think you need a search warrant to go inside of a house just based on the odor of marijuana?

A: No, sir, I did not because the door . . . there were people coming in and out of the apartment and I believe that its possible that contraband could have been destroyed while I was outside. . . .

R. 65, ll. 1-25. Officer Revels recalled that Schurig, "advised [Appellant] that we had probable cause [*sic*] to that there was marijuana in there we'd like to talk just speak to her about it and she continued to block us said we had no right." R. 12, ll. 7-22. Revels did not recall the apartment door ever opening. R. 37, ll. 12-17.

When confronted by defense counsel, Schurig denied threatening Appellant with his Taser if she did not let him into the apartment and denied putting his hands on her prior to her shoving him. R. 56, l. 1 – 57, l. 15. Schurig claimed that he drew his Taser at a later point in the altercation. When asked if Schurig drew his Taser or grabbed Appellant first, Revels answered "I don't recall." R. 22, l. 2 – 23, l. 25. These were the only events of the altercation that Revels could not remember.

Both officers admitted that, prior to arriving at the apartment, they had no suspicion of any criminal activity there. R. 20, l. 15 – 21, l. 15; R. 62, l. 23 – 64, l. 25. Nor did they have any evidence that Appellant was involved in the drug trade or that anyone inside the apartment was armed or a drug dealer. *Id.* The police officers, both members of the department drug squad, claimed that they were simply at the apartment complex to support the firefighters and emergency medical personnel. *Id.*

Firefighter Brian Hamilton, who treated Holley, was in the breezeway about to leave when he heard Schurig tell Appellant he wanted to go inside the apartment and interrogate her about the marijuana odor. R. 28, l. 3 – 32, l. 18. Hamilton stated that the door to the apartment was closed the entire time he was treating Holley. *Id.* When Appellant refused to let the police in, Hamilton watched as Schurig draw his Taser while standing in front of Appellant and telling her that he did not need a warrant or Appellant's consent to enter. *Id.*

Firefighter Michael Bioletti also witnessed Schurig confront Appellant. He stated that Appellant and Schurig argued over whether Schurig needed a search warrant to enter the apartment. R. 35, l. 3 – 43, l. 12. Schurig claimed he did not need a warrant and Appellant refused to let him in without one. *Id.* From his vantage point, Bioletti could not see if Schurig drew his Taser or who initiated the physical altercation. *Id.*

Rock Hill fire department Captain Anthony Baker, like every other witness except Schurig, recalled that the door to the apartment was closed the entire time he was there. R. 46, ll. 5-25. After walking to the parking lot to let the ambulance know that Holley did not want to be taken to the hospital, Baker returned to find Schurig trying to enter the apartment with Appellant blocking him. R. 47, l. 1-15. Baker did not see Appellant strike Schurig. Baker also did not notice any marijuana odor and did not recall hearing anything from inside the apartment.

After Appellant refused to let the police in, “[a] scuffle ensued” and the apartment's door opened. R. 35, l. 3 – 43, l. 12. Baker stated that Schurig appeared to force his way into the apartment. R. 46, l. 5 – 49, l. 20. Schurig admitted that he moved closer to the door after Appellant refused to let him, but claimed that the door opened unexpectedly. R. 55, l. 2 – 57, l. 24. Appellant believed that someone from inside the apartment opened the door and that Schurig pushed his way in. R. 94, l. 1 – 96, l. 21.

Whatever the circumstances, Schurig ended up inside the apartment doorway struggling with Appellant. R. 56, l. 8 – 67, l. 11. As they grappled, Appellant and Schurig spilled out into the apartment complex's breezeway and then into the parking lot. *Id.* After the door opened, Revels, the firefighters and emergency medical personnel attempted to intervene and the scene became chaotic as people from inside the apartment responded to the struggle between Schurig and Appellant. *Id.*

Once the altercation reached the parking lot, Schurig grabbed Appellant by her hair and flung her to the ground. *Id.* In the process of throwing Appellant to the ground, Schurig lost his balance and also ended up on the ground. Appellant then briefly rolled on top of Schurig before firefighters pulled her off of him. *Id.*

Appellant was arrested without further incident. Holley, Lumpkin, and Quantavious were also arrested. **No marijuana was found in the apartment.** Schurig suffered scratches to his face and temporary damage to his vision. *Id.* Despite being equipped with personal microphones, neither Schurig nor Revels recorded the confrontation.

Appellant, Holley, and Lumpkin also testified at trial. All agreed that the door to the apartment was closed after Appellant returned to the breezeway. R. 77, l. 5 – 78, l. 20; R. 85, l. 3 – 87, l. 19. Each stated that Schurig asked Appellant for permission to search the apartment. Appellant declined telling Schurig that he would need to either get a search warrant or get consent from her mother. *Id.*

They all testified that Schurig threatened Appellant with his Taser if she did not allow him to search the apartment. *Id.* When Appellant continued to refuse to let Schurig in without a warrant or consent from her mother, Schurig told her that he did not need her consent or a

warrant and grabbed her to force her out of the way. After he grabbed Appellant, the door to the apartment opened and Schurig pushed Appellant inside. *Id.*

### **Bench Trial**

Appellant elected a bench trial. At the close of the State's evidence, Appellant moved for a directed verdict on the grounds that she was entitled to use a reasonable amount of force to prevent Schurig from illegally entering the apartment. R. 68, 1. 25 – 69, 1. 20. Specifically, Appellant argued that:

There was no arrest warrant; there was no search warrant; there was no factual circumstances fitting exigent circumstances. There was no consent and that therefore [Appellant] would be entitled to use force to prevent a trespass or to eject a trespasser. I would submit to the Court that it is unclear at what point in this altercation it switched from the officer trying to illegally enter the apartment with force being used to impose that effort versus him attempting to then place her under arrest.

I submit that it is clearly an illegal arrest and she's got a right to use force to resist that arrest. It's kind of [a] continuing of action but either way through the its entire process there are really no facts here in which the State can base a just verdict showing that this was a lawful arrest for anybody and that the use of force was not justified at any time.

R. 69, 11. 5-20.

Without taking argument from the State, the Court denied Appellant's motion for a directed verdict. R. 69, 1. 21 – 70, 1. 19. In denying Appellant's motion, the court concluded that "there [was] no unreasonable attempt, no real attempt to enter other than a verbal request and the response was she shoved him. I don't believe she had a right to shove him simply if he ask[ed] to enter her house." *Id.*

The court rejected Appellant's contention that no exigent circumstances were present to support the attempted warrantless entry into the apartment. Instead, the court believed that smell

of marijuana always constituted an exigent circumstance justifying a warrantless search of a person's residence:

At this point I disagree with the United States Supreme Court in their opening case [*United States v. Johnson*, 333 U.S. 10, 68 S.Ct. 367, 92 L.Ed. 436 (1948). where] they found it is not exigent circumstances based on the smell of opium.

I find that the smell of marijuana does rise to exigent circumstances to allow the entry into some's house without a search warrant because of - and again, I just can't phantom how the Supreme Court came up with the idea that only fumes would dissipate. Marijuana can be flushed down a toilet. It can be secreted. There are all kind of things that could happen if that creates exigent circumstances so I deny the motion for a Directed Verdict.

R. 70, ll. 8-19.

— After the defense's case, Appellant renewed her motion for a directed verdict. R. 102, ll. 14-23. Defense counsel reiterated that Schurig was attempting to illegally enter the apartment and that Appellant was entitled to use force to prevent his illegal entry. *Id.*

The renewal of the directed verdict motion blended into closing arguments before the court. Appellant argued that, "a search without a warrant demands exceptional circumstances absent some great emergency. The Fourth Amendment has interposed a magistrate between the citizens and the police. This is not a great emergency. As most, this is the odor of marijuana outside of an apartment; it's an apartment complex." R. 104, ll. 13-22.

Therefore, Schurig's threat to enter the apartment without a warrant and without consent was illegal. Defense counsel stressed that there was no marijuana found in the apartment. R. 105, ll. 9-20. Furthermore, a majority of the witnesses, whether first responders or members of Appellant's family, described Schurig as the aggressor who initiated physical contact. R. 105, l. 21 - 106, l. 24.

The State's closing emphasized that law enforcement officers "take significant risks" in their job and that Schurig had been "brutally assaulted" in the performance of his duty. R. 107, l. 7 - 114, l. 7. The State characterized the case as a vicious attack on Officer Schurig who was simply asking to be let into the apartment:

I think the testimony is clear that on April 15th, 2016 the Rock Hill EMS Service and the Rock Hill Fire Department needed assistance with securing a location for investigating the injuries to Mr. Holley which appeared to be a cut on the face due to fall and so the police department responded. Mr. Holley dazed, confused, disoriented, doesn't want assistance and the Fire Department and EMS respect that but that brings the Rock Hill Police Department lawfully within the proximity of Apartment 104. And Officer Schurig and Officer Revels and several of the fire fighters all say marijuana is emanating from that apartment. They all testified to that.

Then Officer Schurig has a duty to investigate further because marijuana and at various levels is illegal in South Carolina and ask clearly I need to get in that house, I need you to step into the house because we need to talk about this marijuana situation. And then as your Honor heard from Officer Schurig and from the other people who were present there is a shove at that point from Ms. Torbit to Officer Schurig.

R. 108, ll. 2-22.

The State contended that Schurig had the right to enter the apartment without a warrant or consent because the Supreme Court's opinion in *Kentucky v. King*, 563 U.S. 452, 131 S.Ct. 1849, 179 L.Ed. 2d 865 (2011), stood for the proposition that "destruction of evidence in a marijuana situation is an exigency in the Fourth Amendment situation as long as the police didn't create the exigency by being where they are." R. 111, ll. 15-20.

Therefore, since the police were legally in the breezeway, they could search the apartment without a warrant or consent once they smelled marijuana. The State further argued that, once the police smelled marijuana, they could perform a protective sweep of the apartment

because of exigent circumstances. R. 112, ll. 3-16. The State finally claimed that Appellant did not have standing since it was her mother's apartment. R. 113, l. 13 – 114, l. 7.

### **Court's Ruling on Renewed Directed Verdict and Court's Verdict**

After closing arguments, the court stated that it was going to reconsider its directed verdict ruling in light of the closing arguments. R. 114, ll. 8-11. Ultimately, the Court denied the renewed directed verdict motion and found Appellant guilty.

In denying the directed verdict, the Court concluded that Schurig's demand to enter the apartment did not constitute a threatened Fourth Amendment violation and, thus, police conduct did not cause the exigent circumstance:

[H]ere the officers had the right to make under the reasonable exigent circumstances exception to the need for a warrant to make a warrant less search and therefore had the right to effect an entry into the [apartment] to and that the defendant had no right to impede their right to effect a warrantless search. . . .

I find Ms. Torbit is guilty for resisting arrest under Section (B) of the code based on her resistance to and altercation with and interfering with the officer's attempt to make a lawful warrant less search so I find her guilty.

R. 118, l. 15 – 119, l. 14. This appeal follows.

## ARGUMENT

**The trial court reversibly erred in denying Appellant a directed verdict of acquittal for resisting arrest where the uncontroverted evidence established that, at the time of her arrest, Appellant was acting to prevent Officer Schurig from undertaking an illegal warrantless search of her mother's apartment that was not justified by any exigent circumstances.**

### **Introduction**

The trial court erred in refusing to grant Appellant a directed verdict of acquittal for her resisting arrest charge. R. 118, l. 15 – 119, l. 14. Appellant shoved Officer Schurig in an attempt to prevent Schurig from conducting an unlawful warrantless search of Appellant's mother's apartment.

The trial court's erroneous denial of Appellant's directed verdict motion was based on two clear errors. First, the trial court erroneously held that Schurig was simply asking to talk to Appellant about the marijuana odor when Appellant shoved him. R. 69, l. 21 – 70, l. 19. Even taking the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, the trial court's conclusion was without any evidentiary support.

In actuality, the unconverted facts, as testified to by Schurig, established that Schurig asked Appellant to be allowed into the apartment. R. 55, l. 4 – 57, l. 6; R. 63, l. 1 – 66, l. 8; *see State v. Dickey*, 394 S.C. 491, 716 S.E.2d 97 (2011). The unconverted evidence also established that Appellant refused to consent to Schurig entering the Apartment and that Schurig nevertheless attempted for a second time to enter the apartment prior to Appellant shoving him. R. 73, l. 4 – 75, l. 6; R. 63, l. 1 – 66, l. 8.

Second, the trial court erroneously ruled that the odor of marijuana constituted a *per se* exigent circumstance justifying a warrantless search of a residence was an error of law. R. 114, l. 15 – 119, l. 14. This ruling was a legal error directly conflicting with United States Supreme

Court precedent and totally at odds with South Carolina case law governing warrantless searches based on exigent circumstances. *United States v. Johnson*, 333 U.S. 10, 68 S.Ct. 367, 92 L.Ed. 436 (1948); *see also State v. Abdullah*, 357 S.C. 344, 592 S.E.2d 344 (Ct. App. 2004) (exigent circumstances justified warrantless search of apartment where defendant was found; officers were responding to call about a burglary and gunfire, they arrived at apartment to discover defendant, who was being uncooperative, and officers observed bullet holes inside and outside the walls of the premises).

The Court's legal error was the result of a gross misapplication of the United States Supreme Court opinion, *Kentucky v. King*, 563 U.S. 452, 131 S.Ct. 1849, 179 L.Ed.2d 865 (2011). The odor of marijuana emanating from inside an occupied residence cannot, without specific evidence that the marijuana is being destroyed or about to be destroyed, constitute a *pre se* exigent circumstance justifying a warrantless search of the residence.

#### **Directed Verdict of Acquittal**

When reviewing a trial judge's denial of a motion for a directed verdict, the appellate court is required to consider "not whether there is 'any' evidence to support the conviction, but whether viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, there is sufficient evidence to justify a rational trier of fact to find guilt beyond a reasonable doubt." *State v. Stewart*, 278 S.C. 296, 295 S.E.2d 627 (1982), citing *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307, 99 S.Ct. 2781 (1979); *see also, State v. Asbury*, 328 S.C. 187, 493 S.E.2d 349 (1997).

The accused is entitled to a directed verdict when the State fails to present evidence to support every element of the charged offense. *See State v. Brown*, 360 S.C. 581, 586, 602 S.E.2d 392, 395 (2004). "The trial court is concerned with the existence or non-existence of evidence, not its weight." *Id.* at 586, 602 S.E.2d at 395.

“When the State fails to produce substantial circumstantial evidence that the defendant committed a particular crime, the defendant is entitled to a directed verdict.” *State v. Odems*, 395 S.C. 582, 720 S.E.2d 48 (2011). “Suspicion implies a belief or opinion as to guilt based upon facts or circumstances which do not amount to proof.” See *State v. Buckmon*, 347 S.C. 316, 322, 555 S.E.2d 402, 404-05 (2001). A defendant is entitled to a directed verdict on the basis of an affirmative defense when “the uncontroverted facts” establish that defense as “a matter of law.” *State v. Butler*, 407 S.C. 376, 381, 755 S.E.2d 457, 460 (2014) citing *Dickey*, 394 S.C. 491, 716 S.E.2d 97.

Appellant was charged with resisting arrest under S.C. Code Ann. § 16-09-320(B), which states that:

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