RECEIVED

2019

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY  
Court of General Sessions  
Honorable John C. Hayes, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2016-002433

THE STATE, .....RESPONDENT,

v.

DAJLIA SYMONE TORBIT, .....APPELLANT.

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

WILLIAM F. SCHUMACHER, IV  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3713

KEVIN BRACKETT  
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

1675-1A York Highway  
Moss Justice Center  
York, South Carolina 29745  
(803) 628-3020

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**

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

## ARGUMENT

**The trial judge properly denied Appellant's motion for a directed verdict of acquittal for resisting arrest because the State presented direct evidence Appellant resisted her arrest following her physical assault of a police officer, an act independent of law enforcement's request to search her mother's residence for marijuana. Moreover, law enforcement was justified in performing a warrantless search of the home based on exigent circumstances: officers plainly viewed and smelled marijuana in the apartment and needed to act quickly to prevent the destruction of the marijuana evidence. Finally, even if the search of the residence was improper and Appellant's resisting arrest was tied to her refusal to allow the search, Appellant was not permitted to harm officers because physical resistance is always improper for police searches.**

Appellant argues the trial judge improperly denied her motion for a directed verdict because she was arrested for resisting officers' unlawful search of her mother's apartment. The State disagrees with this allegation of error. Appellant's charge for resisting arrest stemmed from her refusal to submit to police following her physical assault of Officer Schurig. Moreover, even if this Court determines Appellant's charge was inextricably linked to Officer Schurig's request to search her mother's apartment, Appellant could not resist the search because: (1) the search was justified by two exigent circumstances, the plain view doctrine and the destruction of evidence; and (2) regardless of the lawfulness of the search, South Carolina law does not grant defendants the right to use physical force to resist a search by law enforcement.

### **No Right to Resist a Search, Lawful or Unlawful, Exists in South Carolina**

Pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 16-9-320(B) (2015):

It is unlawful for a person to knowingly and willfully assault, beat or wound a law enforcement officer engaged in serving, executing, or attempting to serve or execute a legal writ or process or to assault, beat, or wound an officer when the person is resisting an arrest being made by one whom the person knows or reasonably should know is a law enforcement officer, whether under process or not. A person who violates the provisions of this subsection is guilty of a felony and, upon conviction, must be fined not less than one thousand dollars nor more than ten thousand dollars or imprisoned not more than ten years, or both.

Under past South Carolina law, a person had the right to resist an unlawful arrest, even to the extent of taking the life of the aggressor if it was necessary in order to regain her liberty. State v. McGowan, 347 S.C. 618, 622, 557 S.E.2d 657, 659 (2001) (emphasis added). The person resisting arrest could resist with equal and opposite force, but was not permitted to “use force disproportionate to the injury threatened.” Id. at 623–24, 557 S.E.2d at 660.

The United States Supreme Court has fashioned a judicially-created remedy, the exclusionary rule, which is a deterrent sanction by which the prosecution is barred from introducing evidence obtained in violation of the Fourth Amendment." (citation omitted). Importantly though, the exclusion of evidence following an unconstitutional search "is 'not a personal constitutional right,' nor is it designed to redress the injury occasioned by an unconstitutional search." Davis v. United States, 564 U.S. 229, 236 (2011) (citations omitted).

Initially, the State notes that Appellant is incorrect in her assertion that South Carolina currently recognizes a right to resist an arrest. Under the original version of § 16-9-320, persons could only be prosecuted for resisting lawful arrests. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-9-320 (1980). However, the legislature amended the statute in 1990, removing the “lawful” language and making it illegal for citizens to resist any arrest. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-9-320 (1990). As noted by this Court, individuals are now only permitted to resist the use of excessive force by an arresting officer; citizens are not permitted otherwise resist an arrest. State v. Williams, 367 S.C. 192, 199, 624 S.E.2d 443, 446–47 (Ct. App. 2005).

Regardless, Appellant is unable to cite to a single situation in which South Carolina courts have ever recognized the right to resist an unlawful search. In the past, South Carolina law allowed individuals to use force to resist an unlawful arrest because such an action “stands upon the same footing as any other nonfelonious assault, or as a common assault and battery.”

See McGowan, 347 S.C. at 623, 557 S.E.2d at 660 (quoting State v. Francis, 152 S.C. 17, 34–39, 149 S.E. 348, 355–56 (1929)). However, an unlawful search is not similarly viewed under the law; a person was never permitted to use force “to prevent a mere trespass . . . unaccompanied by any imminent danger of great bodily harm or felony.” Id.

By definition, lawful resistance requires a degree of force reasonable in the situation. Id. at 622, 557 S.E.2d at 659. In situations involving unlawful searches, no use of force is reasonable because the injury threatened, a search of immediate vicinity, is not an attempt to injure someone or illegally restrain her freedom. Because the search, unlike an unlawful arrest, does not involve the use of force against a person, any use of physical force by the person resisting the search is an inherently disproportionate response to the actions of the officers. While Appellant opines physical force was needed to protect her privacy interests, victims of unlawful searches are not without a legal remedy. Both federal and state law use the exclusionary rule to bar prosecution based on evidence discovered during an unlawful search. See, e.g., Davis, 564 U.S. at 236. If officers’ had uncovered anything during an unlawful search, the exclusionary rule would prevent such evidence from being used in Appellant’s criminal prosecution.

#### **Origin of Resisting Arrest Charge**

“When ruling on a motion for a directed verdict, the trial court is concerned with the existence or nonexistence of evidence, not its weight.” State v. Weston, 367 S.C. 279, 292, 625 S.E.2d 641, 648 (2006). A defendant is entitled to a directed verdict when the State fails to produce evidence of the offense charged. Id. When reviewing a denial of a directed verdict, the appellate court must view the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the State. State v. Cherry, 361 S.C. 588, 593–94, 606 S.E.2d 475, 477–78 (2004). “If there is

any direct evidence or any substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused, an appellate court must find the case was properly submitted to the jury.” Id. (emphasis added). A circuit judge should grant a directed verdict motion only when the evidence merely raises a suspicion the accused is guilty. State v. Odems, 395 S.C. 582, 586, 720 S.E.2d 48, 50 (2011).

To determine whether a defendant could have lawfully resisted arrest, a court must consider whether, at the moment the arrest was made, the officers had probable cause to make it. Accordingly, the court must decide whether the facts and circumstances known to the officers constituted reasonably trustworthy information sufficient to warrant a prudent person believing the person committed or was committing an offense. State v. Maybank, 352 S.C. 310, 318, 573 S.E.2d 851, 855–56 (Ct. App. 2002).

Despite Appellant’s claims to the contrary, her charge resisting arrest stemmed from her physical assault of Officer Schurig and not from a forceful attempt to enter the apartment. Officers Revels testified Appellant began shoving Officer Schurig immediately following the latter’s verbal request to talk to her inside the apartment about the marijuana smoke he saw and smelled. Similarly, Officer Schurig testified Appellant began shoving him when he was near the front door, prior to any attempt to forcibly gain entry to the premises. Accordingly, because there was direct evidence Appellant’s charge for resisting arrest stemmed from her physical assault against Officer Schurig, the trial judge did not err in denying the motion for a directed verdict.

#### **Exigent Circumstances**

A warrantless search may be proper under the Fourth Amendment if it falls within one of the well-established exceptions to the warrant requirement.” See State v. Brown, 401 S.C. 82,

89, 736 S.E.2d 263, 266 (2012) (recognizing the following exceptions to the warrant requirement: (1) search incident to a lawful arrest, (2) hot pursuit, (3) stop and frisk, (4) automobile exception, (5) the plain view doctrine, (6) consent, and (7) abandonment). "The exigent circumstances doctrine provides an exception to the Fourth Amendment[']s protection against warrantless searches, but only where, from an objective standard, a compelling need for official action and no time to secure a warrant exists." State v. Abdullah, 357 S.C. 344, 351, 592 S.E.2d 344, 348 (Ct.App.2004); see State v. Brown, 289 S.C. 581, 587, 347 S.E.2d 882, 886 (1986) (acknowledging the exigent circumstances doctrine as an exception to the warrant requirement).

"Under the 'plain view' exception to the warrant requirement, objects falling within the plain view of a law enforcement officer who is rightfully in a position to view the objects are subject to seizure and may be introduced in evidence." State v. Beckham, 334 S.C. 302, 317, 513 S.E.2d 606, 613 (1999). To satisfy the "plain view" exception, two elements must be met: "(1) the initial intrusion which afforded the authorities the plain view was lawful and (2) the incriminating nature of the evidence was immediately apparent to the seizing authorities. State v. Wright, 391 S.C. 436, 443, 702 S.E.2d 324, 327 (2011); Brown, 289 S.C. at 587-88, 347 S.E.2d 882. See also State v. Abdullah, 357 S.C. 344, 351-52, 592 S.E.2d 344, 348-49 (Ct. App. 2004).

Another exigent circumstance is the imminent destruction of evidence. In Schmerber v. California, 384 U.S. 757 (1966), the United States Supreme Court found the exigency created by the dissipation of alcohol in a defendant's blood stream combined with the necessity of securing the scene of an accident justified an officer's decision to obtain a blood draw from a defendant without obtaining a warrant. Noting the test was a common, minimally invasive procedure

which was performed in a reasonable manner, the Court found the Constitution "does not forbid the States minor intrusions into an individual's body under stringently limited conditions."

To determine whether a law enforcement officer faced an emergency that justified acting without a warrant, a court must look to the totality of the circumstances. See Brigham City v. Stuart, 47 U.S. 398, 406 (2006). The fact-specific nature of such an inquiry demands a court evaluate each case of alleged exigency based on its own facts. Missouri v. McNeely, 133 S.Ct. 1552, 1559 (2013).

Should this Court find Appellant's arrest was inextricably linked to Officer Schurig's request to speak with her inside of the apartment and that such action constituted a search, the State asseverates Officer Schurig's actions were justified by the exigencies of the situation. Officer Schurig smelled marijuana and saw marijuana smoke inside the apartment. Thus, evidence of the marijuana was in his plain view—and "plain smell"—and would justify his warrantless search of the interior of the home.<sup>2</sup> See Beckham, 334 S.C. at 317, 513 S.E.2d at 613.

Moreover, as noted by the trial judge, the potential destruction of the marijuana further justified a warrantless search of the premises. Petitioner claims the various cases cited in his brief stand for the proposition that the smell of drugs, alone, does not create the presumption that the evidence will be destroyed unless officers take immediate action. However, South Carolina courts recognize the destructibility of drug evidence and the inherent exigency that creates. See State v. Dobbins, 420 S.C. 583, 594, 803 S.E.2d 876, 881 (Ct. App. 2017) (citing U.S. v. Grissett, 925 F.2d 776 (4th Cir. 1991)). Tolley admitted that due to the fight, he was able to enter the apartment, go to the restroom, and flush the toilet. Taking the time to obtain a warrant

---

<sup>2</sup> While the trial judge ultimately did not reference the plain view doctrine in his ruling, he was presented with such evidence during the trial. Accordingly, this Court may affirm Appellant's conviction on this ground. See Rule 220(c), SCACR (appellate court may affirm for any reason appearing in the record).

would have allowed individuals inside more than enough time to destroy any marijuana evidence.<sup>3</sup>

---

<sup>3</sup> Throughout his brief, Appellant claims officers were unable to locate evidence of marijuana. However, there is no evidence in the record a search was ever performed. As the record indicates, after the fight broke out officers focused their efforts on arresting the individuals whom assaulted police.

**CONCLUSION**

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment and conviction of the lower court be affirmed.